

        

            

                

            

        




	



MARTHA STEWART, BORN AND DIES ON THE FAMILY’S PLANTATION FARM BY THE SEA, AND DESPITE THE CHANGING SOUTH AFTER THE CIVIL WAR, FINDS FAMILY, FAITH, AND LOVE. 


	 


	I found Aunt Martha out walking the shore. Old then, but able to move in long strides, her flowing gray hair trailing behind like a plume of smoke following an old steam engine, she paused in her hurry that day to stop and stare at me. She looked right through me with those pale blue eyes with no end, like I wasn’t even there, like I was a mirror of her past and she just stared, as if waiting for the reflection back from the other side of remembrance.


	 


	The Cottage On the Bay begins before the Civil War and follows the life of Martha Stewart Thorpe and the parallel path of the South through the dark years of reconstruction. A young war bride and then matriarch, Martha lives through the dynamics of changing times, lives, and family on a once thriving southern plantation. Through the letters and journals of Martha and her three sisters, plantation records, family memories, neighborhood gossip, and stark history, the narrator of the saga, Violet Stewart, tells the story of Martha’s life and the changing world of the Stewart Family. Martha’s moving story is a reminder that there is more in life to unite us than divide us and that redemption and forgiveness take many forms.


	



	 “A saga - both intimate and timeless - that reminds the reader of our shared history and the strength of the human spirit.”—Leigh Somerville, author of It All Started with a Dog.”


	“With a wealth of descriptive detail, Gonzales brings to life a remarkable woman and her family’s place in the history of the South, expertly weaving mystery, racial conflict, a search for family, and the lingering effects of the Civil War.”—Jane Tesh—author of the Madeline Maclin series, the Grace Street Mystery Series, and the novel, Butterfly Waltz.


	“Cottage on the Bay by Ruben D. Gonzales returns readers to Civil War era North Carolina and provides a vivid glimpse of life on a plantation. Through the life of Martha Stewart Thorpe—the estate matriarch—Gonzales chronicles the master-slave relationship and her endeavors to right the sins of her family’s past. From the moment readers meet Martha, they will be engaged in her life and eager to follow her story to its end.” — Jennifer Bean Bower, author of North Carolina Aviatrix Viola Gentry: The Flying Cashier; Winston & Salem: Tales of Murder, Mystery and May-hem and Moravians in North Carolina.
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	About The Author



	Ruben Gonzales was born and raised in East Los Angeles and graduated in 1967 from California State University, Los Angeles with a degree in Anthropology and a minor in Art. After [image: Image]graduation Ruben spent 5 years with the Peace Corps in a variety of postings in West Africa including a stint in a small jungle village as an elementary school teacher and traveling as a training officer. After his service Ruben moved to North Carolina and has called it home since 1976. Ruben spent the first 20 years as an Entrepreneur in Winston-Salem and the last twenty years working for the City government in business development including five years as Director of Development. During his tenure Ruben helped over 100 people to open a business.


	Ruben is a certified trainer and Certified Finance Professional and continues working with Entrepreneurs by writing business plans for would be business owners. 


	Ruben serves on several different boards including the Winston-Salem Sister Cities International board that facilitates citizen diplomacy to encourage culture understanding between the United States and other countries. 


	In addition to his work in Africa Ruben has traveled extensively abroad and throughout the United States becoming a student of southern history, especially of his adopted North Carolina. Ruben enjoys the low country of North and South Carolina where his novel takes place and particularly loves to visit Charleston, SC to visit his Grandson, Harrison.


	More about the author is available at his web site:  www.rubendgonzales.com
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	Principal Characters - The Family


	 


	BROTHERS


	 


	John, Martha’s father, eldest of the four brothers


	Peter, second oldest, lost one leg in the war, alcoholic


	William, third oldest, flamboyant southern gentleman
Michael, youngest, closest in age to Martha, Celeste’s love


	 


	SISTERS


	 


	Martha, eldest, young matriarch of the farm


	Katie, second oldest, John’s favorite


	Elizabeth, third in line, marries Allen Anderson


	Caroline, fourth in line, marries Grant Wilkinson


	Laura, youngest, first to escape the farm, the mother of Francis


	 


	MEN


	 


	Captain Harold Thorpe, Martha’s husband


	James, former slave


	 


	HELP


	 


	Phoebe, plantation conjuror


	Ella, head house help


	Celeste, house help from the Gullah Clan


	Betty, organizer of the cottage on the bay home and like a sister to Martha


	Courtney, care giver to Martha later in life


	 


	NARRATORS


	 


	Violet, from Celeste’s clan


	Francis, son of Laura, nephew of Martha


	 




 


	 


	“Her burdens were her own and burdens were for shoulders strong enough to bear them.”


	― Margaret Mitchell, Gone with the Wind


	 


	 




 


	 


	 


	 


	THE COTTAGE OnTHE BAY


	 




 


	 


	 


	 


	MARTHA


	 


	When the wind blows in from the sea, just ahead of the dawn sun coming up over the black water’s horizon, its shimmer off the flat bay making me squint into the distant glare of space and time, I can almost make out the image of Great Aunt Martha, walking along the white sand beach. Although she died when I was young I know much about my Aunt Martha. I have her journal, filled with everyday ramblings of events great and small. I have the accounts of the farm, the county records of recorded transactions, and the journal her father kept of his life on Scots Grove Plantation, before and after the Civil War. I have Aunt Martha’s sister’s journals, her art, and many letters she wrote during her near century of life. Her nephew, Francis Stewart, got to know her, staying with her awhile, learning from her, loving her. He shared with me much of those visits. In her later years, I also spent idyllic summers with her at Scots Island Cottage. Enriched by her spirit and wisdom gained during these years, I faced my own life buoyed by her example of persistent determination to live life with purpose instead of waiting for life to happen. 


	Banished to the island cottage during stretches of my youth, I thought it a rather harsh punishment for penance due. Dutifully, that first year, I reluctantly packed two bags for the summer term although towards the end of my stint there, I would realize that along with the troubled heart I toted up to the bay, most of the clothes I thought I needed never left their fold. I seemed more than content to run along the beach from sun up to sun set in a tattered ill-fitting dress and floppy hat. 


	Forgive me my poor research, my bias, my embellishments, for I rely on old recollections and hazy memories to tell her story. I also rely on Francis Stewart, his life remarkable in itself, as narrator in much of this remembrance. Many times through varied seasons, over the years, as we sat at breakfasts of shrimp and grits, waiting for the first light of day to burst over us, he shared with me bits and pieces of Aunt Martha’s life. We’ve spoken of the lady, as we huddled at night against the breeze, sitting around camp fires on the beach, while walking into fading suns as evenings fell over the bay. Although the details of her life have differed some, depending on the narrator, her life remains poignant as told to me, as remembered in his eyes, as held in the hearts of the people, who after they slaved for her, befriended her. I’ve quilted in my mind  a picture of the woman, images taken from her sisters’ saved letters and faded postcards that crisscrossed the country, her life divided into the decades of her youth, war, adulthood, haunting, forgiveness, her passing and finally her legacy. 


	Of course, if not for the cottage on the wind swept sound of Brunswick Bay, the life of Great Aunt Martha would have already passed beyond memory; like the sand that ekes out of the deep cove there to disappear forever in the great sea of life beyond. In her journal Aunt Martha described watching ships, Dutch Schooners, one coming and one going, passing each other in the inlet, one to anchor in the deep little cove and the other off to Charleston markets. The bales of cotton and the bags of rice and sugar were loaded there at the sturdy dock that the Stewart brothers built in 1850, the year of Martha’s birth. 


	 She painted a pretty oil painting of the scene that hangs in the dining room of Scots Island Cottage. It depicts a late summer loading on the dock. The plantation men are hauling bags and bales from wagons full with the farm harvest. The Stewart land back then stretched from the island over through the dense cypress swamp and pine forest and up along the old road, which is now the highway. 


	I’m curious of the time, the plantation, the island sound. Does the air hold the same smell today when I walk there, and are the animals the same, the forest as thick, and the land as inhospitable? The men in the painting cross a narrow wooden plank that bends under their weight, their loads balanced confidently atop their heads. The sleek schooner settles low in the water, gorged on the crops of the land. The sweat pours from the men’s brows and backs and most are shirtless, their black bodies glistening in the hot sun. Their heads are raised with smiles, or perhaps in song. The summer cottage is sitting nearby on a knoll; great tree trunk stilts hold the house up. The cottage, built so the plantation family could escape the oppressive heat of the inland summer months, stands open to catch the steady cool ocean breeze. Aunt Martha painted the picture one bright day when light and talent met in one great moment to record time. 


	Another painting of the farm hangs above the cottage fireplace mantel, some six feet of stretched canvas. It is signed but I’d have known the artist anyway. Her hand light and lively and this work, though heavy with the darkest shades of burnt sienna and forest green, still shimmers under the fuse of brilliant white morning glory captured entwined in the forest depth. It is a late-summer scene; the full foliage and thick forest lean into the white mansion from above and on either-side, the farm children and grownups are captured gathered at an outdoor picnic. 


	  There is a large table covered in red checkered linen and laden with the fruits of the harvest: yellow squash, brown pumpkin, green melon, and golden corn. 


	Before she died, Aunt Martha, put down in her diary all the names of the relatives in the painting, some thirty. The first time I read the notations, I carried the thick book out to the parlor and, using the descriptions there, I found the immediate family members in the painting. Martha’s Sister Caroline, red hair aglow, is there as is Sister Katherine, stout as a man. So is Elizabeth round as a melon, with wicked smile and Laura, taller than all and younger still. Great, great uncles Peter, Michael, and William are there as well. Peter, the oldest next to John, wears a ragged beard and hair in a mane. William, the next in line, is attired in black leather boots and spurs, gallant in slick black hair and a pistol strapped to his thigh. Michael, the youngest of them, is depicted on his horse, a fine white stallion. The eldest brother John is resting in a straight back chair in the shade of the old magnolia which still grows there. The children of the plantation family are all about him, their faces turned up, their gaze directed his way, and their faces different shades of chocolate. John Stewart is speaking; his arms are in motion. In one hand he holds a white straw hat which he uses as a fan and in the other a crooked walking stick which he jabs in the air for emphasis. I imagine he’s telling the children the story of how the Stewart Brothers tamed the wilderness and how their lives prospered because of brave men such as they. 


	Aunt Martha is in her twenties at the time of the painting, the oldest child and heir to the plantation. She painted herself with only her back visible, but it is unmistakably her, with long braided golden hair dangling between her shoulders. Her fair haired husband, Harold, is there in full uniform of the proud grey although her only child, Randall, the love of her life, has not yet been born, so is understandably missing from the scene. 


	I have her letters from the dark lonely years of the war when Captain Harold Thorpe commanded the North Carolina Light Artillery Company at Fort Fisher.  Poor Captain Thorpe, captured at the fall of Fort Fisher on January 15, 1865, and then shipped by sea and rail to Almira Union Prison in New York, where he waited out the remainder of the war in unspeakable conditions. 


	Then there are the letters from the dark lonely nights of her haunting. Letters she wrote to her far off sisters, bohemian actor and writer poet, Aunt Laura, in San Francisco, and Aunt Caroline and widowed Aunt Elizabeth in Philadelphia. I have Laura’s diary and Elizabeth’s journal and letters to all three sisters. Martha’s letters are of despair and longing and finally letters of hope and prayer. I have them all. Most given to me and others gathered over the years. They came to me, one at a time, from family attics and long forgotten trunks, in bundles found locked away, on faded folded paper scavenged from ancient bedroom bureaus; the musings of a lonely teenage war bride and later a sick and dark widow. The early ones are love letters between Martha and Harold Thorpe, worn but neatly bundled and tied with a pretty blue lace ribbon. They are from the war years. The last of these is dated New Year’s day, 1865, the last time Martha heard from him until later, another life time later, when much of her story begins.


	 




 


	


	 


	
FRANCIS



	 


	In early 1919, for the second time in his life, a young Francis Stewart, only child of Laura Stewart, stopped on his way west to visit Aunt Martha. Francis arrived after just finishing duty with the American forces during the Great War in Europe. I hadn’t been born yet so I can only retell these years from the memories he shared with me and the stories told to me by neighbors around Scots Grove Plantation. Francis loved to talk and could carry a conversation for hours on most any subject. He stood tall and slim with the family’s hallmark fair blue eyes twinkling out of deep set sockets, short sandy hair, and a laugh that started as a chuckle but could grow to a roar. When older, his leathered face, creased from age and the salt air, resembled a harness from old tack, strong against the lead yet a guiding force through life’s miracle. 


	The Great War scarred the nation and though Francis never fought in the bloody French trenches, he bore his scar openly. Due to his pre-war experience in the San Francisco merchant trade, he found himself assigned to war time duty on the USS Druid, engaged in hunting enemy submarines near the Strait of Gibraltar. In November 1918 the Druid operated as part of a squadron of American and British ships assigned to keep enemy U-boats from passing from the Mediterranean into the Atlantic. During a fierce sea engagement, between the squadron and a U-boat, he took some shrapnel on his left cheek which created a nasty scar which made him look like he had a perpetual smile on his face, if you happened to be talking to him on that side. In time the scar receded into age wrinkles and visibly disappeared, though remained deep in his heart. 


	I spoke with Francis many times over the years about his visits to Scots Grove, and between his memories and her writings I’ve put together a living portrait of the woman at that time, Aunt Martha. 


	Francis first visited Scots Grove when only a boy of thirteen and he looked forward to again visiting the old family plantation, making it a point to stop on the bay before continuing home. Born late to independent single, Laura Stewart, he said he thoroughly enjoyed the life of San Francisco but in his teen youth, grew quite restless. The wonderful city captured the heart of his mother, so he didn’t see how he’d ever get to see much of the world unless he broke out on his own. Once turned sixteen years of age, he joined the merchant service and escaped to sea. When war broke out in 1917, the American forces pressed into service merchant seamen from everywhere and he ended up with duty on a ship out of the port of Toulon, France. He explained he never really adjusted to the navy but the learned lessons stayed with him his whole life. 


	During the after-the-war second visit to Scots Island, he said he found Martha as his mother had explained he would, in the well-kept cottage overlooking the sound. The cottage, he said, looked as new as the day the first wooden nails were put to her. The plantation home, converted into a school a few years before, stood proud. All the local children went to classes there, the farm children in particular. He said children seemed to be occupying every room, crowded into nook and cranny, yet remained well behaved. He described them as enthusiastic about their studies. He said the students served under the tutelage of a rather stern principal; who roamed the halls both hugging and scolding her charges. The principal carried a very long switch, which he emphasized; she had no qualms about using.  


	He related to me that he stayed with Aunt Martha for a year or so, as he pondered what to do with the rest of his life. During this time she appeared to him to be quite lucid and she busied her daytime hours walking about to the different enclaves of neighbors, administering to the sick. He said a small boy followed her about, toting a large bag with a quantity of her varied collection of healing herbs and roots, gathered and studied over her years of farm life. They spent evenings out on the wide breezy porch of the cottage on the bay and Aunt Martha told him about her life and the life of Scots Grove. He noted in his journal important details from episodes of her life and many others not so important. He wrote, “She is of excellent health and more than above normal, except of course, her speaking with ghosts.”Martha must have been near seventy at this time. “One of several women of the home constantly hovered near to assist her in her needs.” 


	Today, the cottage still sits on the western side of a great dune, toward the end of a pointed island, once connected to the mainland by a narrow peninsula. The crashing surf is opposite; with a thick sea oat sandscape that requires a good five minute trek over a plank walk, before you can reach the beach. The inland sound rises and falls with the tide and the day’s work is scheduled by its ebb. 


	Along the coast, an expanse of beach stretches out toward the sea, the waves a good distance out at low tide although the swells careen closer to the dune at high. 


	The sprawling cottage, expanded several times to meet the demands of the growing family, stands tall on the grand dune with a view of the sea to the east and behind to the west, the sound. Heavy cypress pillars lift the house high over high tide level with the wide and multi windowed front facing the constant sea. A long deep porch shelters the main house from the morning and noon sun while the windows open on that side allowing the afternoon breeze to flow into the rooms. A thick cypress shingled roof and cypress slatted exterior walls protect the cottage from the sea and in later years from time itself, the sturdy wood aging to a deep gray. A cypress floor layers the cottage interior, sealed with a varnish of turpentine and soybean oil, preserving its golden hue.


	 A kitchen, added at some point, to the rear of the house, replaced the old outside kitchen, and along with an out-building used for a wood shop, formed the foundation of the little enclave. Over the years, Martha added a hen house, a pen for a few hogs, large root cellar for the farm produce, tobacco barns, and a small dairy barn and grazing area for three milk cows. In the end the compound held all that Martha needed. 


	There are other smaller cottages dotting the banks of the sound that house the parents and children of the farm and now, as then, laughter and talk from these homes are a constant companion to the sound of the surf on the opposite bank of the outer island. 


	Francis told of her, “Aunt Martha made her way about the cottage quite easily and took a vigorous walk on shore every morning before her normal breakfast of grits and eggs. More often than not, she seemed to return to the cottage in wet clothes, either from the perspiration from the exercise, the splash from the surf, or from an occasional squall erupting from the humid mornings, but she smiled through it all, happy to be among friends. 


	“When not out administering to the sick, she spends her afternoons in the shade of a great oak tree in the side yard of the school, reading to the youngest students.”


	Francis told me he knew it brought great joy to her as she smiled throughout the lesson and delivered each character’s words in a different mimicked voice, no matter a person or fanciful animal, knight or great lion. The children surrounded her,” he said,


	 


	from the smallest first graders, but even the older children would free themselves from what they were doing to gather near her voice and listen to the stories of strange animals and far off worlds. Places where tigers and bears played together and ships sailed the oceans encountering extraordinary sea creatures. Fanciful times when witches ate little children who misbehaved or where a fairy princess could be rescued by a brave hunter or brought awake from an eternal sleep by a kiss from a handsome prince. 


	Jumping to her feet and brandishing a wooden sword, Martha dueled with imaginary invading black knights, who would attempt to capture the throne of good King Arthur. Gathering the children in two lines the battle would commence and the lessons of good and evil, right and wrong, of weak and strong, would materialize there in the shade of the old oak, a rooted memory of Scots Grove Plantation.


	 


	Martha believed in education but had the hardest time convincing her father of the value. During the early plantation years, leading up to the War Between the States, he just didn’t think it necessary that the slaves knew how to read and write. She told Francis of the conversation with her father over the matter and Francis retold the long ago conversation to me. 


	“But surely it would help them in the field if they could count and keep track of the planting and yields,” Martha said, trying to keep the meeting business like to appeal to her father’s business side. 


	“Now, Martha Darling, that’s what the over-seer is for,” her father argued back, his Scottish brogue deep, sitting in the plantation house library surrounded by his revered books, especially those of Robert Burns. An afternoon sun bleached through heavy curtains that made the room flicker in shadow as the sunlight brightened the rest of the house. 


	“That and to beat the poor souls!” Martha said, standing small before him on a red hued braided carpet that covered the polished hard oak floor, but unafraid to speak up on the matter. Martha described her father as tall but slim of shoulders and quick to smile. She adored her father and hated to argue with him. She knew their slaves were the best kept on the mainland but they were still slaves and Martha heavily bore the guilt of the practice. Though young, Martha grew into her womanhood during the war years and all that entails. 


	“Now, Martha, darling,” her father said, pausing in his bookkeeping, leaning back in his chair and addressing his oldest though young daughter kindly, “I know how you feel about the practice but you are much too young to know how impossible it would be to run this farm without the labor. What with your uncles off fighting, I just don’t know how we would keep the farm going without the men.”


	“The war will put an end to the evil practice, Father.”


	“Yes, yes, my dear, so it seems.” He sighed, getting up from his seat and walking across the room. Pulling back on the window cover to look out on the farm grounds he said, “and from what I hear, sooner than later, but in the meantime, let’s see if we can get this year’s crop in.”


	 




 


	 


	 


	SCOTS GROVE


	 


	John Stewart and wife, Mary, of Dundee Town, on the River Tay, left other brothers and sisters, father and mother, and Scotland home to make their fortune in the new world, assured of the fact that through hard work and willpower they would succeed. I often wonder what they felt when they left their home. I wonder if I would have the same courage, the same vision to see a distant and foreign future, hidden in a wilderness I didn’t know. 


	Landing in Wilmington Port in 1848, the brothers inquired at the land office and presented a land grant deed signed by the grandson of the former Royal Governor, Gabriel Johnston. His Lordship hailed originally from Dundee, Scotland, and over the years encouraged his Scottish countrymen to immigrate to the colony by selling them parcels of his original land grant. The truth of their deed had been that the grandson of the former Governor, and heir to the titles and lands, when drunk one night in a tavern, and losing expensively at cards, signed the property over to the proprietor, Daniel Stewart, older brother of John, to cover his debt and board. Black swamp covered 90% of the land in the former colony, so many said the grandson of the former governor still got the better of the deal. 


	The land office found the deed in order and, after accepting a heavy fee, recorded the brothers the new owners of near 400 acres of land along the Black River, a lower tributary of the Cape Fear River. When Mary Stewart saw the land for the first time, she noted how different it looked from the oak grove their Scotland home sat within. With that in mind, John Stewart named their new land, Scots Grove Plantation. 


	Mary Stewart, as nearly all Scottish women of Dundee, grew up poor yet proud and bent on making a life better for her children to come. She wrote these simple words to her mother describing the land and her dreams.


	 


	 


	


	September 9, 1848


	Dear Ma, 


	We’ve come as we said we would. Poor John was sick nearly the whole way, but I don’t know why, but I was not. The ship came in sight of land after only a two week passage and it ferried south for two days until we came in sight of the shores of the Carolinas just before dark, the sunset a bright red hue on the horizon. From the sea side the land looks wild and dark. A thick green forest hides the true landscape and a stretch of outer islands guard the mainland. Unlike the barren banks of home it is hard to imagine what the land holds here on the other side of the coast. 


	We came through the outer harbor into the port of Wilmington the next morning, docking at a busy market front. John and Peter went to the land office to settle the deed but William, and I walked through the port town. The streets here are alive with merchants and goods the likes I have not seen. I wonder of this strange land and our future here. 


	It took a week to arrange for transportation, supplies, and ten men for the farm to be but we finally set out in three fully stocked wagons our eighth morning in America. The road is well used for most of the trip. There are other farms under cultivation although miles seem to separate them. I recognized the corn easy enough and the cotton from descriptions I’ve read. Another crop in abundance I do not know, but John says it is the tobacco plant. 


	As we were warned, a great deal of the landscape is a heavy black swamp with rivers and streams snaking across the countryside in such a maze I don’t know how one navigates here. I suppose we’ll find our way eventually. 


	As directed we came upon a fork in the road. The well maintained west road was marked by a grand sign that reads, “Forest Oaks Plantation.” The survey indicated the beginning of our land started a mile east of there down the right fork where the road could hardly be seen for the thick brush. The land was supposed to be marked by a solid wall of stone. From that point to the coast is our new home. 


	Peter got down from the wagon and directing the men, cleared the road and paced the distance off to be sure. They pushed so fast in front they even got ahead of the mule teams. Finally on a slight crest of land he paused ahead of us. We pulled to a stop, and we all scrambled off the wagons and ran to join him at the rock formation marking the beginning of the land. Looking east we gazed off into the distance, a distance separating us from the sea beyond and from our future. 


	Your faithful daughter,


	Mary


	 


	Beginning at the wetland shore in the fall of 1848, brothers, John, Peter, William, and ten slaves began to clear the dry land they found. They worked under a tolerable sun, moving westward at the edge of the Black River Swamp, an estuary between a vast cypress forest and the great dune on the outer island. The island setting is a mix of marshes, dune, sand tidal flats, with beaches along its coastline and a chain of small hills and wetland islands along the narrow sound. The beach there is ground for nesting loggerheads and green sea turtles, and the waters on the sound side of the island, are a nursery for spot, mullet, flounder and pompano. John wrote, “The whole area is teeming with life and bursting with energy. Surely this land can hold both life as well as dreams.”


	A narrow peninsula connected an out island like sandy mass with the mainland but the brothers found fertile soil inland. Thick poplar, cypress, and pine strangle the rich bottom land, colored near black by decayed leaves and vegetation. Ten miles inland, among a small forest of live oak trees, on a modest rise above the surrounding flats, they began to build the home that would become the center of the plantation farm. 


	Their youngest brother, Michael, soon followed his brothers to Scots Grove to lend a hand in building the plantation home and, augmented by the purchase of a growing slave labor force, their holdings and wealth grew to encompass six sections or about 2,000 acres before the war. The farm had 100 acres in cotton production, 100 acres in field rice, 100 acres in sugar cane, and what could be rested from the forest, set aside for grazing. The plantation house, built through the years between 1855 and 1857, and added to many times after, served as the center of the community. Though the house stood grand on the farm, like all the great estates at the time, much of the real value on the property encompassed the 90 slaves chained there. Though owning slaves continued to be controversial, the cheap labor force on the farm remained essential to making a profit. As much as to keep their land as the slaves, when war broke out, the three youngest brothers agreed to serve the Confederacy, their station in the community providing sought after commissions. 


	Scots Grove Plantation’s success depended on the slave labor. The records of the farm list the details of the operation. During the years prior to the war, the farm grew to 96 slaves, 50 working hands and others divided among the house help, the dairy, two carpenters, a blacksmith, a cooper, and two sawyers. The farm also employed a midwife, basket maker and a freedman fisherman who knew the surrounding waters and kept the slave residents supplied with an abundance of fresh fish for their stews. 


	John wrote of a slave auction and Martha’s attitude to the practice:


	 


	November 10, 1860


	We traveled to an auction today at the Wilmington port. It may well be the last we see in these parts. Though we are well supplied in the house we need more field hands for the farm harvest. Though the tradition of buying and selling appears to have ended in the north it is still a business here in the south. There is no telling how much longer we’ll have the option. I am, as usual, not altogether proud of the trade but never-the-less, Scots Grove needs the man power to prosper. 


	It was a mistake today, but in addition to William, I brought along Martha and Katie. Katie my companion and Martha my moral compass rode along in the wagon for the twenty mile ride to the river front. A great crowd gathered at the custom house where the newly arrived were on display. I brought Betty from the house for just this purpose and sent her and the girls off to shop in the market while William and I tended to the business. I hoped to complete the vile trade before Martha returned from shopping for her wrath, though young, is complete on this subject. 


	The lot gathered was off a South Carolina plantation, sold to settle a gambling debt to a North Carolina man. The only condition being the families for sale must be bought as a lot. The men appeared to be healthy enough and the Andersons bid the highest for the biggest single men. I kept my own needs until the last when I bid on several young single lads that looked to be able to stand a day out in the hot sun, but the escalating prices kept me out of the bidding. After selling the obvious strong there were scant few left to buy and mostly families with women and children at that. I bid on the last grown man without success and was about to end our day when the auctioneer offered up a final lot, a family of father, mother, and several children and other relatives of a sort. With no need for the others as we already had a house full of help, I was of mind not to bid. Unfortunately Martha arrived from her shopping at just that time. When she saw what was a foot she cried that I must bid for whole lot, “Father,” she said “you must take the family don’t leave them to slave for another.” I tried to reason that we only needed men for the field but she said, “Don’t you always say that family is the most important thing and the strongest for the work.”


	Thus cajoled by my own words and embarrassed in front of the crowd, I smiled at my young daughter and bid on the lot and ponied up the silver to take the whole family. I can admit, for the record here but not for general publishing, the men do work harder and tend to be loyal when their families are together. I suppose Martha knows that instinctively. 


	 


	Though the whip could be used to control the field men, John Stewart realized very early that a fair driver served as a much more important tool and that task fell to a young slave, a native of Guinea, noted in his bill of sale, and called, Big Jim. After he came to the farm, Mary Stewart recognized something different in the way the powerfully built man carried himself. Big Jim, born of royal stock, demanded and received the respect and loyalty of the other plantation slaves. 


	The Stewarts knew how to grow potatoes, corn, and cotton, but not the cash crop rice. The West African slaves not only brought a strong body to the farm but an agricultural knowledge the Stewarts did not possess for growing rice in the wetlands. Planning to expand the farm operation into wetland rice cultivation, the Stewarts needed the expertise. Slaves imported directly from the West African coast had been growing rice for centuries. Coincidently, their new home of the coastal cypress swamp surrounding Scots Grove matched the environment of their own Africa homes. John Stewart guessed that the continued success of the farm would be dependent on the expanded cash crop of rice. 


	 Big Jim and his first hands knew how to prepare the wet fields and how to grow and harvest the rice. The swampland stood as the way for success for mass production and transforming the fields into rice fields became the first task. The need for an increase of the rice harvest, just profitable on the dry fields, behind the area’s plentiful harvests of naval stores — tar, pitch, and turpentine and of course cotton, became the systematic goal of the plantation.


	The difficult wet rice production required a large number of field slaves, as well as several enslaved experts like Big Jim. The Stewarts relied on his experience and skill necessary for building the fields, planting the crops, the timing of flooding and draining the fields, watching the crops, and finally harvesting, threshing, winnowing and preparing the rice for sale. 


	Big Jim directed the field slaves in the snake and insect infested swamps, in spite of many injuries and disease. In late March and during April, the field slaves began to sow rice seed in rows, generously spaced, for room to walk between the growing plants. After planting, flooding the fields for about a week, gave the seeds a chance to sprout. During the growing process the fields required alternating flooding and draining many times, on a schedule only Big Jim knew. They harvested the rice in September, then hulled, winnowed, bagged and sold it during the fall and winter months, after which the growing process could begin again. 


	John Stewart described the farm scene in the record of the plantation when accounting for the number of slaves needed to run production:


	 


	October 30, 1859


	All field hands worked the harvest today, some 40 in number. 


	Ten men worked in the yard tying the sheaves and shipping the flats to the yard and laying the sheaves out. Ten women threshed the rice in the yard using the long sticks to beat the rice free. Ten women winnowed the rice from the sheaves. A line of  ten women man the tree trunk mortars, one pestle each, pounding the rice from its hull then the same ten winnow the hull and free the rice for bagging. All toll is 50 men and women. 


	 


	The women and men would stand along the low ridge where the ocean breeze sweeps up the low rise and using the flat basket fanner, they tossed the rice with a deft flip. The hulled rice floated as on air, the chafe flying away on the breeze, the heavier rice returning to the basket. The process is repeated until all the chafe is gone then the hulled rice is put in the basket and later bagged for shipment. Twenty men and women did the tedious work. 


	In the early years of the farm, Mary, her cheeks in a perpetual rose bloom and her hair the color of smoldering embers in a hearth, commanded the work day and in between gave her husband four daughters in two-year increments. At the birth of the last girl, Laura, the couple took a few years away from child bearing with the hope that the break would halt the line of girls and allow a son to spring forth. If not, the inheritance line of the Stewarts in the Americas would rest with the oldest daughter, Martha. The other brothers, too busy for marriage, confined their love making to slave quarters. 


	On their first attempt after their five-year hiatus, Mary became pregnant again, but to John Stewart’s utter dismay, both son and mother died during the child labor in 1862. Martha, just twelve at the time, bore up well under the strain and took unexpectedly well to being the maternal head of the family. 


	Uncle Michael wrote of the sad day: 


	 


	May 10, 1862


	Sister Mary passed today a victim of a difficult birthing. The lady went into labor at dusk last night and fought through the night. The midwife and other help put up a good fight with even the farm conjurer, but death overcame mother and child at first light. John is beyond consoling at the loss of both loving wife and expected son. 


	As I write these words, Sister Mary and her son are resting in the dark parlor, their spirit about the house, each of the help in thought of the great lady. The daughters are in an understandable shock though the oldest, Martha, has taken it the hardest and indeed collapsed and has been confined to her bed. Only the mystic spiritual tea brewed by the farm’s conjurer was able to stir her in time for the feast. 


	I have asked Reverend Watson to conduct the service. He’s just arrived and formerly of the Church of Scotland and now with the Episcopal Church. He has relocated to St. James Church in Wilmington at the death of Reverend Donaldson. I hear he was a Chaplain with the Confederate Calvary. 


	 


	Uncle Peter recorded in his journal on the service:


	 


	 


	May 14, 1862


	I managed a leave for a few days to come to the service for dear Sister Mary. I doubt Brother John has spoken more than two words since my coming. His eyes are deep set above hollow cheeks and great bags have formed where once a whimsical twinkle thrived. 


	At the hour we hauled Mary up to shoulders and swept up the small casket with our still born nephew, and leaving the house, started the procession up Scots Hill. The spot has a grand view of the farm spread out to the horizon. Till now only the farm workers had been buried there and a heavy stone wall separates the two areas. The one side is thick with markers and unfortunately now, our first two of the family are on the other side. 


	Men of the farm were given a spot among the bearers and rotating every minute a good number had the honor of participation. Although father would have objected he knew Mary would have wanted it, so didn’t fuss. 


	Brother William took up his pipes, the pitched drone of the hymn, “Amazing Grace,” drifting across the valley, the gathering spellbound by the unusual sound. Although a regular seen instrument in the north it is a quite foreign sound to the southern ear. 


	Reverend Watson set a deliberate pace and directed a boy to take the lead and ring the bell tolling the way as the climb was made. The spot looked near cheery in the morning sun and a fine late spring chill stayed through the ceremony. 


	Words were spoken but I cannot recall many save for the passage from the Scottish Rites. 


	 


	Reverend Watson greeted the gathered:


	 


	“I am the resurrection and the life, saith the Lord: he that believeth in me, though he were dead, yet shall he live: and whosoever liveth and believeth in me shall never die. 


	I will take heed to my ways: that I offend not in tongue. 


	I will keep my mouth as it were a bridle while the ungodly is in my sight. 


	I held my tongue and spake nothing. I kept silence, yea, even from good words; but it was pain and grief to me. 


	My heart was not within me, and while I was thus musing the fire kindled: and at that I spake with my tongue;


	Lord, let me know mine end, and the number of my days: that I may be certified how long I have to live. 


	Behold, thou hast made my days as it were a span long: and mine age is even as nothing in respect of thee. 


	And now, Lord, what is my hope: truly my hope is even in thee. 


	Deliver me from all mine offences and make me not a rebuke unto the foolish. 


	Hear my prayer, O Lord, and with thine ears consider my calling: hold not thy peace at my tears. 


	For I am a stranger with thee and a sojourner, as all my fathers were. 


	 O spare me a little, that I may recover my strength: before I go hence, and be no more seen.”


	After the reading Reverend Watson had many words of grace for dear Mary but I doubt few were heard above the sobbing of the four young daughters and from half of the assembled crowd. Concluding the formal ceremony the gathered dispersed slowly. I know not which of the daughters stayed the longest in the fading day and into the night but I do know Brother John was the last to come down off of Scots Hill,  well after the sun set over the farm. 


	 


	When present in the flesh, Mary insisted on at least a once-a-month St. James Sunday service in town. I’ve been to services at St. James and the ghosts of the past reside heavily amidst the pillars and great ceiling there. I can imagine the outer walls are thick against the elements although time tells us it is more the souls within the church that hold sway over its history. 


	Though the Stewarts were a church going household in spirit, they found it difficult to continue a regular practice with the work on the farm. To keep the once-a-month custom from fading from their calendar, Martha reminded her father, sisters and uncles of the need and she thought quite rightly, coaxed them to continue the monthly custom in spite of their lost interest. Scots Grove Plantation lumbered on, its future and the war entwined in a grip of death and sadness, God only a distant memory. 


	Mary Stewart cherished her church but held another dream dear, a school for the children of the farm, unfortunately, not a dream shared by the Stewart brothers, especially during the war years. 


	“And what good the crop to us if you ship most of it off to the army?” Martha asked her father. She recorded much of this conversation in her journal in the summer of 1864. 


	“The Confederate Army of Lee must eat, my darling,” her father responded as they sat opposite each other, across a wide desk in the small library of the plantation house, “just like the army of Grant. Think of your uncles. They may eat some of this year’s harvest.”


	“Better they be here at home to eat than at war to kill.”


	“Better yes, but not what we have. We need to support the effort; we can’t rely solely on the success of an occasional blockade runner, if not for the sake of the fading South at least for the sake of your uncles serving the South.”


	“But only a small school Father, for the children,” Martha said, “you know mother wanted one. Even Ella says it would be good.”


	“Well then,” he mocked at the use of the name of the head woman of the house slaves, “If Ella says then…” 


	“But truly Father, I will do all the teaching, out back in the kitchen, what harm can it be?”


	“Okay then, if you must.” He relented as always when in discussion with his oldest daughter. Sitting down heavily in his desk chair, he added, “But remember now, only the children, the smallest children,” he said waving a crooked finger at her.”We have to keep the farm running at full capacity for the sake of the army, and not during the harvest.”


	“Agreed.” 


	“And speaking of the army, what of this young man of yours, Howard Thorpe…” 


	“Harold, Father; his name is Lieutenant Harold Thorpe.”


	“Aye, Harold it is, so what of this young man, Harold Thorpe?”


	“And what of him?”


	“Isn’t the young man stationed at the fort?”How is it he is allowed to slink about the house in a lovesick swoon?”


	“Father.” 


	“I would think being an officer would require a bit more diligence. How does he get to be constantly underfoot here?”


	“An officer has his privileges.”


	“Well he’d better be taking care of his duty instead of moping around here after my eldest daughter.”


	“Father.” 


	“Don’t Father me, lass, I think it’s about time your young man and I have a word or two and settle what’s on his mind. It is time you start to think about an heir to Stewart Farm now isn’t it?”


	“Now, Father,” she said although she’d been waiting for Harold to have such a talk with him for months and now, with the war upon them, there would be no more time if not done soon.


	 




 


	 


	 


	HAROLD


	 


	The smiles of the happy couple in the old photo are sealed securely for all time behind a lead beaded glass frame, slightly tarnished at the edges, yet still a solid buffer against the changes of history. The photo, taken on their holiday in Charleston, captures Harold Thorpe in the full officer’s dress uniform of the Confederate Army. For many years, the framed photo stood on Martha’s bedside table, and all the help would only dust about it, afraid to touch it, least a spell be broken and the dust gathered beneath, a reminder that time gathers about all unions, would be released and float off taking the memories behind the photo, with it. 


	Though only a merchant’s son, Harold Thorpe managed the four years at the Citadel with honors and, being newly commissioned when war broke out, his first posting found him at Fort Fisher outside Wilmington. During the summer of 1864, young Martha Stewart walked into Harold’s father’s general merchandise shop, looking for a bolt of light weight cloth to make summer dresses for her sisters. Martha and her sisters loved to go into the town and shop among the merchants. The town, an exotic blend of cultures and taste, a melting pot of people and lands brought to its shores by the busy Wilmington port and the war. When the young man saw Martha, he fell instantly in love and, through the last months of the war, that love sustained him. 


	Though barely fourteen at the time Martha wrote in her diary:


	 


	June 11, 1864


	We all made the long ride to town today to shop; we sisters and Ella and Betty, Old Sam at the reins. At the general merchandise store we went straight to the rack holding the bolts of cloth. Of course, after having heard about a new wave of blockade runners bringing supplies to the town, we already expected the racks to contain a new shipment of cloth. We were thus engaged, and I particularly, having found a very fine weave of cotton linen, when a rather tall and broad shouldered young military officer joined our small party and asked if he could be of service. Not imagining his connection to the shop we all laughed shyly at which the young officer proceeded to explain to us the differences in the bolts of cloth we were examining. He pointed out the oriental cloth with the intricate weave was a muslin cotton out of India and quite expertly noted the contrast with the rather bland cotton fabric from England. He pointed at a second, third and fourth bolt explaining in order; ‘this one is a linen made of flax, the plant, this one a cashmere made of course from the hair of a goat, out of Scotland I believe, and then this is silk, made from a worm.’ Thoroughly amazed at his proficiency I found myself all of a sudden silent and when he addressed me by name, ‘Martha Stewart,’ I quite believe my mouth was hanging open. When he reached out to introduce himself I took his hand and my heart beat so fast at his touch I quite thought it would burst from my breast and when he raised my hand to his lips I thought I would swoon on the spot. 


	 


	The young man, the son of the prosperous shop proprietor, captivated Martha’s heart. Due to the times, Harold Thorpe thought it best for a short courtship. With the South in a war born turmoil, Harold Thorpe, rode up to the plantation house on a jet black horse, accompanied by his young male servant, Benjamin, dressed in formal attire. Dismounting and having his man hold the reins of his mount, he asked to speak to the master of the plantation, John Stewart. They proceeded into the library where for some time they stayed in conversation. Some years later Sister Katie recalled the day and recorded in her journal, “Martha, pretended to be uninterested in the meeting, and played with the farm children out on the yard, while we sisters took turns wringing our hankies as we waited on the veranda.”


	At the conclusion of the meeting, a stoic Harold Thorpe came out of the house and, seeing Martha out in the yard, he handed his hat and gloves to his man and walked over to her. An overnight shower left the yard in a muddy mess but there in his pressed uniform, in the presence of her father and her sisters, Harold got down on a knee and asked Martha to be his wife. 
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